IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

PRESSLEY ALSTON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO.: 87,275 LOWER CASE NO.: 95-5326-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA J. SOPP ATTORNEY AT LAW 211 N. Liberty St., Suite Two Jacksonville, Florida 32202-2800 Florida Bar No. 265934

(904) 350-6677

Attorney for Appellant

ISSUE V:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO THE ARMED ROBBERY COUNT BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION		-	•	65
<u>ISSUE VI</u> :

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record herein will be "R" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter. References to the transcripts of trial, penalty phase and sentencing will be "T" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter. References to exhibits will be the party introducing the exhibit, followed by the Clerk's number for said exhibit.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS ALSTON'S CONFESSION

ISSUE II:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MOTION IN LIMINE CONCERNING THE VIDEOTAPE OF THE "WALK-OVER"

ISSUE III:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO INFORM THE JURY THAT APPELLANT WAS BEING ADMINISTERED PSYCHOTROPIC MEDICATION

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE MEDICAL EXAMINER TO TESTIFY AS TO THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE VICTIM BASED UPON METHODS OF FORENSIC ODONTOLOGY AND UPON HEARSAY RECORDS OF THE VICTIM'S DENTAL HISTORY

ISSUE V:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO THE ARMED ROBBERY COUNT BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION

ISSUE VI:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE THE INDEPENDENT ACT INSTRUCTION DURING THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

ISSUE VII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO DELAY THE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDINGS UNTIL THE CO-DEFENDANT COULD BE TRIED AND SENTENCED

ISSUE VIII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST TO DELETE THE PORTION OF THE JURY INSTRUCTION "RULES FOR DELIBERATION" REGARDING THE "JUDGE'S JOB" AND ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE THE DEFENSE REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION

ISSUE IX:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY

ISSUE X:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY AS TO VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE

ISSUE XI:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE FULL-COLOR GRADUATION PHOTOGRAPH OF JAMES COON TO BE EXHIBITED TO THE JURY DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT

ISSUE XII:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING A LAWFUL ARREST

ISSUE III:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL

ISSUE XIV:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSUFFICIENT WEIGHT TO THE DEFENDANT'S MITIGATING FACTORS

ISSUE XV:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATE HAD PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE STATUTORY AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER"

ISSUE XVI:

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MOTION TO PROHIBIT THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY BECAUSE OF THE MENTAL AGE OF THE DEFENDANT

ISSUE XVII:

THE DEATH PENALTY IS DISPROPORTIONATE IN THIS CASE

.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PRESSLEY BERNARD ALSTON was arrested on May 25, 1995, and booked into the pre-trial detention facility in Duval County on charges of murder, armed robbery and kidnapping. (R-1). At first appearance court on May 27, 1995, Alston executed a "defendant's claim of rights form," and an affidavit of insolvency. (R-3; R-4). The claim of rights form asserted Alston's right to refrain from making statements unless his attorney was present, as guaranteed by the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution. (R-5). Alston was adjudicated insolvent, and the public defender was appointed to represent him. (R-4).

An indictment charging first-degree murder, armed robbery and armed kidnapping was returned on June 8, 1995. (R-14). The firstdegree murder count alleged a premeditated design to kill. (R-14). On July 19, 1995, Circuit Court Judge, Aaron K. Bowden entered an order appointing Dr. Harry Krop as an expert to examine appellant and to report to appellant's attorney. (R-17). The evaluation of appellant was set for Wednesday, August 2, 1995. (R-19). A neuropsychologist with Dr. Krop, Sherry Risch, evaluated Alston on Wednesday, September 13, 1995. (R-27).

Trial counsel filed a suggestion of mental incompetence to proceed on September 22, 1995, (R-29). Appellant was ordered to be evaluated by Dr. Ernest Miller, M.D., and by Beth Shadden, in order to determine competence. (R-32).

Alston's upbringing and family life was evaluated by Roger B. Szuch, a licensed clinical social worker, in preparation for the

penalty phase, as an expert family therapist. (R-35).

Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements, admissions, and confessions obtained by Detectives Baxter, Roberts and Hinson on May 25 and 26, 1995. (R-51). That motion was heard on November 17 and 22, 1995, and was denied. (T-62).

Appellant also filed motions attacking the validity of the death penalty statute and requesting expert witnesses to testify about its application, including:

- (a) motions to declare section 921.141 and 922.10, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional because electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment (R-61);
- (b) motion for evidentiary hearing and for payment of fees and costs of expert witnesses on the constitutionality of death qualifications (R-96);
- (c) motion to preclude death qualifications
 of jurors in the innocence or guilt phase
 of the trial and to utilize a bifurcated
 jury if a penalty phase is necessary (R 102);
- (d) motion to prohibit instruction on aggravating factors 5(h) and 5(i) (R-130);
- (e) motion to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional because of treatment of mitigating circumstances (R-134);
- (f) motion to dismiss and to declare section 782.04 and 921.1241, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional for a variety of reasons (R-140);
- (g) motion to declare section 921.141(5)(i), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional (R-157);

- (h) motion to declare section 921.141(5)(h), <u>Florida</u> Statutes, unconstitutional (R-186);
- (i) motion to declare section 921.141(5)(d), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional (R-204);
- (j) motion to declare section 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional as applied because of arbitrariness in jury overrides and sentencing (R-215);
- (k) motion for evidentiary hearing for payment of fees and expenses of expert witnesses concerning arbitrary application of the death penalty (R-242);
- (1) motion to prohibit misleading referenced to advisory role of the jury at sentencing (R-77);
- (m) motion for statement of aggravating circumstances (R-81);
- (n) motion to prohibit impeachment of defendant by prior criminal convictions, or, in the alternative, to impanel a new penalty phase jury (R-86).

These motions were denied. (T-244-48; T-260-62).

Trial counsel also filed a motion in limine concerning a videotape of a "walk-over" from the Police Memorial Building to the pre-trial detention facility. (R-306). The videotape contained footage depicting Alston's questions to TV reporters, reporters' questions to Alston, reporters' comments and Alston's, and physical gestures. (T-962-64). The trial court determined that the evidence presented by the videotape was "compelling and highly probative," and denied the motion. (T-212-23).

Appellant filed another motion in limine concerning testimony of the mother of the victim and concerning testimony relating to an incident with one Gwennetta McIntyre (R-311). Trial counsel filed a third motion in limine concerning the victim's clothing, objecting to its introduction into evidence and observation by the jury, because of the deteriorating condition of the clothing. (R-318). The state stipulated to this motion. (T-206-07). Appellant also filed a motion to suppress physical evidence, alleging that the physical remains of the victim, clothing and three bullets which were seized from the scene of the crime were fruits of the poisonous tree of an illegally obtained confession made by appellant. (R-320).

Appellant also filed a written request for a special jury instruction concerning victim impact evidence, specifically:

You are about to hear evidence concerning the victim in this case, James Coon. I instruct you that, although you are entitled to hear this evidence, you are not to consider it as an aggravating circumstance or weigh it as an aggravating circumstance when you determine whether to recommend a life sentence or a death sentence.

(R-323). Portions of this requested jury instruction were given; but the trial court gave a different instruction. (T-1432-34). Trial counsel also filed a motion requesting that the jury be instructed that the appellant was being administered psychotropic medication and was under medical supervision for a mental and/or emotional condition during the trial. (R-324). The motion alleged that appellant was being administered the following medications:

(a) Tegretol, .200 mg three times per day;

(b) Desipramine, .25 mg three times per day; and

(c) Thorazine, 100 mg at 1:00 o'clock p.m. and 200 mg at 11:00 o'clock p.m.

(R-324). The trial court took the motion under advisement, pending Alston's behavior at trial. (T-227). This motion was renewed during trial, and was denied. (T-913-14).

The state filed its notice of other crimes, wrongs or acts evidence pursuant to section 90.402 and 90.404(2), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, seeking to introduce evidence that on January 23, 1995, appellant drove James Coon's vehicle to a parking lot where he was in an altercation with Gwennetta McIntyre. (R-327).

Appellant filed his notice of intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation during the penalty phase. (R-328).

Alston also requested the court utilize a special verdict because of the ambiguity arising from a general verdict of guilt as to first-degree murder. (R-91). This request was denied. (T-250-52).

Jury selection began on Monday, November 27, 1995. Fifty out of fifty-six venire persons indicated some degree of knowledge of the facts of the case, appellant, or of the deceased, James Coon. (T-365; T-525). During voir dire, appellant moved for a change of venue, asserting that the degree of media saturation in this case made it difficult to select a jury. (T-524-25). That motion was denied. (T-525).

Trial began on November 28, 1995, and continued until November 30, 1995.

At the close of the state's case, trial counsel moved for a mistrial based on the state's failure to authenticate the pawn shop

receipt. (T-1258). Trial counsel also requested a curative instruction. (T-1259). Both requests were denied. (T-1259). Trial counsel also moved for a judgment of acquittal on all three counts; that motion was also denied. (T-1259-60).

The defense presented testimony of one witness, then indicated to the court that Alston was unable to decide whether to testify, and that defense counsel suspected that Alston was incompetent to make that decision. (T-1266-67). The court required the defense to announce his decision; the defense rested without calling Alston as a witness. (T-1268).

A charge conference was then held. (T-1273). Trial counsel renewed the pre-trial motion relating to two theories of firstdegree murder. (T-1274). Trial counsel also objected to Paragraph Five of the guilt-phase instruction entitled "Rules for Deliberation:"

"It is the judge's job to determine what a proper sentence would be if the defendant is guilty."

(T-1284). The court disagreed and gave the instruction. (T-1285;T-1369). The defense also requested the independent act instruction, which was denied. (T-1285).

The jury returned a verdict on December 1, 1995, finding appellant guilty of murder in the first degree, robbery with a firearm, and kidnapping while in the possession of a firearm. (R-340; R-341; R-342). Appellant filed his motion for a new trial on December 4, 1995. (R-403).

On December 11, 1995, appellant appeared before the trial

court. (T-1403). Argument was held regarding scheduling of depositions of penalty phase witnesses, and on appellant's request to delay the proceedings because of the inability to call the co-defendant as a witness. (T-1403; T-1410).

Trial counsel filed a motion to delay the penalty phase until after the disposition of the co-defendant Dilanjan Ellison's case, or, in the alternative, to grant Dilanjan Ellison use immunity. (R-468). Appellant asserted that it was necessary to delay the penalty phase proceeding in his case because the co-defendant Dilanjan Ellison could provide testimony to rebut aggravating circumstances argued by the state. (R-468). Counsel had previously attempted to depose Dilanjan Ellison, but Dilanjan Ellison asserted his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. (T-1440; R-468). The motion to delay the penalty phase proceeding was denied. (T-1414).

Appellant's amended motion for a new trial was also heard on that same date, and denied. (T-1417; T-1421). Trial counsel also renewed the motion to exclude victim impact evidence. (R-249; T-1422). Appellant had also requested a specially-drafted jury instruction as to victim impact evidence, and had filed the same with the court. (T-1425; R-323). The state objected to any jury instruction as to victim impact evidence. (T-1426). The trial court agreed with defense counsel that a cautionary instruction as to victim impact evidence was necessary prior to the jury hearing such evidence, and that the instruction would be given again in the court's final instructions. (T-1428-29).

Trial counsel also filed written defense requested penalty phase jury instructions. (R-417-38). The trial court granted certain of the defense' written additions and/or deletions to the standard penalty phase jury instructions, but denied others. (T-1433-34).

Over objection from defense counsel, the state was permitted to display an eleven-by-fifteen inch full-color graduation photograph of the victim. (T-1442). Prior to the penalty phase testimony, counsel for the state prepared a written statement for the mother of the victim to read to the jury. (T-1439). The penalty phase was held on December 13, 1995. (T-1448). The state presented testimony of Sharon Coon, the mother of James Coon. (T-1452). During Mrs. Coon's testimony, the prosecution displayed the graduation photograph of James Coon on an easel in front of the Trial counsel objected to the display of the (T-1456). jury. Mrs. Coon read the statement she had (T-1456). photograph. prepared with the assistance of the prosecutor; the state introduced evidence of appellant's two previous convictions in aggravation. (T-1450-51).

The defense then presented its evidence in mitigation, calling several lay and expert witnesses on behalf of Alston. (T-1460). On December 14, 1995, the jury returned its advisory verdict recommending the death penalty by a vote of nine to three. (T-1760).

Trial counsel filed a motion for a new penalty phase; (T-485); the motion was denied on December 20, 1995. (T-1768). The case

was passed for a sentencing hearing; the state called additional witnesses to testify about the victim. (T-1769). Trial counsel objected to the additional victim impact testimony of the state's witnesses. (T-1770). The trial court overruled the objections. (T-1773).

The case was passed to January 12, 1996, for sentencing. (T-1799). Prior to the actual sentencing hearing, trial counsel filed a motion to prohibit the imposition of the death penalty because of the mental age of the defendant. (R-498). That motion was denied without argument. (T-1799).

Appellant was sentenced on January 12, 1996, to death for count one (first-degree murder); to life on count two (armed robbery); and to life on count three (armed kidnapping). (R-504-10). The sentences in counts two and three were imposed to run consecutively with each other and with count one. (R-508-09). The trial court entered its sentencing order, finding the following aggravating factors had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (a) previously convicted of a crime of violence;
- (b) instant capital felony committed while the defendant was engaged in or was an accomplice in the commission of robbery and kidnapping;
- (c) the capital felony was committed for the purposes of avoiding a lawful arrest;
- (d) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain;
- (e) the capital felony was especially heinous,

atrocious, or cruel; and

(f) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner with out any pretense or moral or legal justification.

(R-511-20). Because the trial court determined two of the aggravating circumstances to have merged, the court determined that only five statutory aggravating circumstances had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (R-515).

The trial court determined that appellant suffered a deprived childhood, but determined that was not a mitigating factor sufficient to outweigh the aggravating factors. (R-516-17). The trial court rejected as mitigation the fact that appellant had admitted his involvement in the offense, and also rejected the fact that appellant had an intellectual and mental age far below his chronological age. (R-517). Although the trial court determined that appellant suffered from a bi-polar disorder, the trial court found that particular mitigating circumstance to have little (R-517-18). The trial court also rejected as mitigation weight. appellant's claim that he had the ability to work for a living. (R-518). The trial court rejected appellant's proposed mitigating circumstance that he had the ability to get along with people and to treat people with respect. (R-518). The trial court stated in its sentencing order:

> As required by law the court has found and weighed the statutory aggravating circumstances and finds that six (6) circumstances, five (5) after merger, have been established beyond a reasonable doubt. The aggravating circumstances are compelling

and persuasive evidence which must be weighed in conjunction with any statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances found to exist. No statutory mitigating circumstances exist, but some few non-statutory mitigating circumstances exist which individually and collectively wholly insufficient are to militate against the strong aggravating circumstances which cry out for the imposition of the death penalty. This defendant has demonstrated his lack of respect for the integrity of other people's person and property. He refuses to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. Death is the only appropriate punishment under the facts and circumstances of this case. Indeed any one aggravating factor in this case, standing alone, would outweigh any mitigating factor or factors.

(R-518-19).

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this court. (R-583).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 23, 1995, while on patrol Jacksonville Sheriff's Officer McCauley located an abandoned car in the Arlington area of Jacksonville while on patrol. (T-830-31). The car had damage to the driver's side. (T-833). It was determined that the car had belonged to one James Coon; the police inventoried the car and placed it in storage. (T-838-39). Coon had previously been reported as a missing person. (T-95-97).

Lonnie Cothern testified that on January 22, 1995, he had seen a grey Monte Carlo "ram into a building" and then back into another car. (T-819). Cothern gave a description of the driver of the other car, and said he was wearing a red jacket and green pants. (T-819-20). Cothern said he saw the driver of the Honda drive the car to the back of the building, come back to the front of the building and get into the Monte Carlo. (T-820). Cothern then called the police; the Monte Carlo went north on Cesery Boulevard. (T-820; T-824).

State witness John Curran testified that he saw the car being abandoned, and a man running away. (T-826). According to Curran, the man was 6 feet tall with a medium build; Curran also testified the man wore a red jacket. (T-827).

On May 24, 1995, Gwennetta McIntyre, Pressley Alston's onagain, off-again girlfriend, went to the Jacksonville Sheriff's . Office after consulting with her minister; there she contacted Homicide Detectives Boyd and Baxter. (T-882). McIntyre also met with detectives on the following day at the Jacksonville Sheriff's

Office, speaking again with Detective Boyd and Detective Baxter. (T-882). On May 25, McIntyre gave the Sheriff's Office statements regarding Pressley Alston and the red Honda, and told the police where Alston could be located. (T-882-83). McIntyre also gave the officers consent to search her house. (T-883).

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