IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 13 1997

PRESSLEY ALSTON,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No. 87,275

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar #293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

680 So. 2d at 419-20. As required by the statute, the testimony of the victim's mother demonstrated his "uniqueness as an individual human being" and did not constitute "[c]haracterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence." § 921.141(7). Because the testimony met the

requirements of <u>Payne</u> and the statute, it was both relevant and admissible. Alston has demonstrated no error, and this Court should affirm the trial court's allowing the state to present victim impact evidence.

ISSUE X

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY REGARDING VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE.

Alston claims that the trial court improperly instructed the jury on victim impact evidence. There is no merit to this argument.

Prior to trial, Alston filed a proposed instruction on victim impact evidence. (II 323). At the December 11, 1995 motion hearing Alston asked that the proposed instruction be given (XVII 1425-26), but the state objected to any formal instruction on victim impact evidence. (XVII 1426). The judge, however, stated "I think some type of instruction just has to be given to the jury by the court." (XVII 1427). It was then decided that the issue would be revisited at sentencing. (XVII 1428-29).

On December 13 the trial court asked defense counsel if he still wanted a cautionary instruction on victim impact evidence and counsel responded affirmatively. (XVII 1445-46). The prosecutor then read such an instruction given by the court in the penalty

phase of another case. (XVII 1446-47). The court decided to give the instruction produced by the state (XVII 1447-48), and, prior to the victim's mother's statement, gave the jury the following instruction:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you are going to hear evidence known as victim impact evidence which will be offered by Sharon Coon during the penalty phase of this trial.

I remind you, or tell you, instruct you that you shall not consider the victim impact evidence as an aggravating circumstance, but the victim impact evidence may be considered by you in making your decision in this matter.

(XVII 1451-52). The court included the second sentence of the above-quoted instruction in the instruction given to the jury just prior to beginning deliberations. (XIX 1752).

A standard jury instruction on victim impact evidence has not been promulgated or adopted by this Court. The instruction given in this case, however, fully comports with Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808 (1989), and Window v. State, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla.), Cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 571 (1995). In Window this Court stated that victim impact "evidence is not admitted as an aggravator but, instead, . . . allows the jury to consider 'the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death.'" Id, at 438 (quoting)

§ 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (1993)). The instruction told the jury precisely what <u>Windom</u> requires, i.e., that victim impact evidence is not an aggravator, but that it could be considered by the jury. Alston has demonstrated no error, and this claim should be denied.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR TO DISPLAY A PHOTOGRAPH OF THE VICTIM DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Alston argues that the trial court erred in allowing the prosecutor to display a photograph of the victim during closing argument. There is no merit to this issue. Even if error occurred, however, it was harmless.

At the December 11, 1995 motion hearing the prosecutor announced that he would introduce a photograph of the victim during the mother's testimony. (XVII 1441). Alston objected, arguing that the photograph was irrelevant and that its "prejudicial value would outweigh any probative effect." (XVII 1442). The court overruled the objection. (XVII 1443). Thereafter, the state did not introduce the photograph during testimony, but, rather, the prosecutor displayed it to the jury during closing argument.

As Alston points out, the "test of admissibility of photographic evidence is relevance." <u>Cave v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d

705, 708 (Fla. 1995). The legislature, as acknowledged by this Court, has decided that victim impact evidence is relevant. E.g., Bonifay v. State, 680 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 1996). This Court has consistently recognized that photographs of victims when dead are relevant and admissible: "Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." Henderson v. State, 463 So. 2d 196, 200 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 916 (1985). A photograph of the victim when alive is no less relevant or admissible than one of the same victim when dead. If the object of victim impact evidence is to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness, what better way to do so than through a photograph of the victim while alive. Such truly shows the jury who the victim was, instead of leaving him or her a faceless shadow.

The admissibility of photographs is within the trial court's discretion, and that court's decision will not be overturned absent a showing of clear error. Lockhart v. State, 655 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1995). Alston has demonstrated no clear error and, thus, no abuse of discretion. Even if the trial court erred in allowing the state to display the photograph, however, any such error would be harmless because Alston has not shown that the photo became a

feature of the trial or improperly affected the jury's recommendation. This issue, therefore, should be denied.

ISSUE XII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND IN AGGRAVATION THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID ARREST.

Alston argues that the trial court erred in finding in aggravation that he killed the victim to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest. There is no merit to this claim.

The trial court made the following findings regarding this aggravator:

The aggravating circumstance specified in Florida Statute Section 921.141(5)(e) established beyond a reasonable doubt in that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. The defendant and his accomplice took James Coon from a hospital where he had been visiting an ill relative, drove him to a remote part of town after taking personal property from him, and thereafter executed him because the defendant realized that James Coon could identify him and his accomplice. purpose of the killing was to eliminate a witness to the kidnapping and robbery. statutory aggravating circumstance established beyond any reasonable doubt.

(III 512-13). The record fully supports these findings.

The avoid arrest aggravator "focuses on a defendant's motivation for a crime." <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361, 1366

(Fla.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 111 (1994). Therefore, as this Court has stated, "in order to establish this aggravating factor where the victim is not a law enforcement officer, the State must show that the sole or dominant motive for the murder was witness elimination." Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 409 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 1619 (1993); Thompson v. State, 648 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2283 (1995); Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 834 (1993); Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871 (1988). This Court has uniformly upheld a trial court's finding the avoid arrest aggravator when the defendant admitted killing the victim to eliminate a witness. Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861, 867 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 106 (1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1019 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1708 (1995); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 390 (Fla. 1994), cert. <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 943 (1995); <u>Bottoson v. State</u>, 443 So. 2d 962, 963 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873 (1984).

In the instant case Alston admitted that he killed the victim because the victim could identify him and Ellison as the people who robbed him. (XVI 1158). Alston's confession that the victim was killed to eliminate him as a witness is direct evidence of his motive. Walls. Alston's reliance on Thompson v. State, 647 So. 2d

824 (Fla. 1994), Hansbrough v. State, 509 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1987), and Bates v. State, 465 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1985), is misplaced because none of those defendants admitting killing to eliminate a witness. The trial court's finding the avoid arrest aggravator should be affirmed because Alston has demonstrated no error as to that finding.

ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THIS MURDER TO HAVE BEEN COMMITTED IN A HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL MANNER.

Alston argues that the trial court erred in finding in aggravation that he committed this murder in a heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) manner. The record, however, supports this finding. If this aggravator should not have been found, any error was harmless.

The trial court made the following findings regarding this aggravator:

The aggravating circumstance specified by Florida Statute Section 921.141(5)(h) was established beyond a reasonable doubt in that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. This was not a "routine" robbery wherein the decedent was killed simultaneously with the robbery. James Coon was forced into his own vehicle with his two (2) assailants, repeatedly begged for his life, was taken out of the vehicle in a remote

location in Jacksonville, and vividly contemplated his death for a minimum of thirty (30) minutes. The words of James Coon are haunting, "Jesus, Jesus, please let me live so can finish college." The defendant's accomplice shot the decedent once, appears that this shot was not fatal. the accomplice came back to the defendant who did not go out into the woods initially with the accomplice and the decedent, the defendant inquired as to whether James Coon was dead. The accomplice responded that he assumed that he was as he had shot him once.

Not content with this assurance from the accomplice, the defendant took the firearm from the accomplice and went to the victim who was alive, moaning, and James Coon held up his hand as if to fend off further attacks. The defendant then shot James Coon at least two (2) times, and there is no question that James Coon was then rendered dead. It is difficult for the court to imagine a more heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner of inflicting death upon an innocent citizen who just happened to be in the path of this defendant who was then a predator looking for money or other things of value.

(III 513-14).

Relying on <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. Sept. 19, 1996), <u>Ferrell v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S388 (Fla. Sept. 19, 1995), <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1993), and <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 111 (1994), Alston argues that this murder was not HAC because there was no evidence of torture or extreme and outrageous

depravity (initial brief at 84) and that multiple swift gunshot wounds, even if the victim is begging for his life, do not establish HAC. (Initial brief at 85). As the state will demonstrate, the cited cases are distinguishable, and there is no merit to this argument.

The HAC aggravator applies to the nature of the killing and the surrounding circumstances. Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 99 (1994); Stano v. State, 460 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 472 U.S. 1111 (1985); Mason v. State, 438 So. 2d 374 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984). As this Court recently stated, "[e]xecution-style killings are not generally HAC unless the state has presented other evidence to show some physical or mental torture of the victim." Hartley, 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S394; Ferrell; Robertson v. State, 611 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1993). The state produced no such other evidence in Hartley, Ferrell, Bonifay, and Stein, and, thus, this Court held those murders not to be HAC.

In the instant case, however, the state did produce such evidence. As noted by the trial court, the rural area where the victim was killed was a thirty-minute drive from where he was abducted. Relying only on the fact that the victim died from either one of two gunshots to the head ignores the length of time

of armed kidnappers. It also ignores the fact that Ellison marched the victim into the woods and shot him. That shot did not kill him, however, and, if the victim had thoughts that he might still survive, Alston had a different plan. On hearing from Ellison that the victim was alive, Alston took the gun and marched into the woods. He ignored the victim's pleas for mercy and shot him dead.

"In determining whether the circumstance of heinous, atrocious or cruel applies, the mind set or mental anguish of the victim is an important factor." Harvey v. State, 529 So. 2d 1083, 1087 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1040 (1989); Wvatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1983 (1995); Phillips v. State, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985). As this Court has held many times, fear and emotional strain preceding a victim's death contribute to the heinous nature of that death. Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 538 (1993); Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 1619 (1993); Adams v. State, 412 So. 2d 850 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 882 (1982). Furthermore, as this Court has recognized, the HAC aggravator can "be supported by evidence of actions of the offender preceding the actual killing, including forcible abduction, transportation away from possible sources of

assistance and detection, and sexual abuse." Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988); see Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1120 (1995); Routly v. State, 440 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 468 U.S. 1220 (1984). When coupled with the forcible abduction and transportation, the time the victim had to contemplate his fate, both before and after being shot the first time, distinguishes this case from those relied on by Alston. The fact of this case set this murder apart from the norm of capital felonies and show it truly to have been heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

Even if this Court decides that the trial court erred in finding this aggravator, no relief is warranted. As stated by this Court previously: "If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the trial court's reliance on an invalid aggravator must be deemed harmless." Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). Striking HAC would leave four aggravators (felony murder/pecuniary gain, avoid or prevent arrest, prior conviction, and CCP) to be weighed against inconsequential nonstatutory mitigation. Given the presence of four strong aggravators and the lack of significant mitigators, there is no reasonable likelihood that Alston would have received a sentence of life imprisonment if the HAC aggravator had not been

considered. Cf. Hartley (striking HAC was harmless); Ferrell (same); Gerald v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 104-05 (Fla. 1996) (no reasonable likelihood of different sentence where striking an aggravator left two aggravators to be weighed against a statutory mitigator and three nonstatutory mitigators); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 697 (Fla. 1995) (no likelihood of different sentence when eliminating CCP left five aggravators to be weighed against "minimal mitigating evidence"); Fennie, 648 So. (eliminating CCP would be harmless because "[t]he totality of the aggravating factors and the lack of significant mitigating conclusively demonstrate that circumstances death appropriate penalty in this case"); Pietri v. State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1354 (Fla. 1994) (striking CCP left three aggravators and, even if the trial court had found mitigators, there was no reasonable likelihood of a different sentence), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2588 (1995); <u>Wvatt v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where the three remaining aggravators "far outweigh the minimal mitigating evidence"), cert. <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1372, (1995); <u>Peterka v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against lack of a significant criminal history), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 940 (1995);

Stein, 632 So. 2d at 1367 (harmless error where four aggravators remained to be weighed against statutory mitigator); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 204 (Fla.) (eliminating HAC was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against one statutory mitigator and one nonstatutory mitigator), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1210 (1992).

The state established five, or at the least four, aggravators.

Alston, on the other hand, established only inconsequential nonstatutory mitigation. His death sentence, therefore, should be affirmed.

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